**RECEIVED**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

SEP 25 2020

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III Circuit Court Judge  
The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2018-002229

---

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The lower court erred in failing to dismiss the complaint.
- II. The Lower Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment as to Buchanan and Appellant's Counterclaims.
- III. The Acts After the May 29, 2013 Announcement Deprived Buchanan and Pope of their Due Process Rights.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James Brown died on Dec. 25, 2006.<sup>1</sup> [R. 1416] His estate plan included the Will leaving his personal effects to six children and the residue to the 2000 Trust. At Brown's death the 2000 Trust set aside a "fractional share" for the education of seven specific grandchildren. [R. 364, 370; R. 1371-1372] Everything else was devised to Brown's "Feel Good" Trust for the educational benefit of disadvantaged children. [R. 1371-1372] The Will and 2000 Trust both contained no-contest clauses which provided that any beneficiary who challenged the estate plan would forfeit any interest under the Will or 2000 Trust or any standing as a beneficiary. *Wilson v Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 417, 743 S.E.2d 746, 750 (2013). [R. 364]

Brown appointed three trustees for the 2000 Trust, which was funded during his lifetime. [R. 1408, p. 2; 219; 225; 1371] After Brown's death, millions of dollars in takings by one or more original Trustees were discovered, and all three eventually resigned. [R. 1372; 1375] Robert Buchanan and Appellant Adele Pope were appointed to serve as Personal Representatives under the Will and Trustees of the 2000 Trust (PR/Trustees). *Wilson* at 419, 743 S.E.2d at 751.

The Attorney General (AG) intervened, disrupted the estate plan, and purported to settle the James Brown litigation by an agreement with certain heirs and claimed heirs which gave them

---

<sup>1</sup> In this brief and citations to the record, this Case, Richland County Case 2010-CP-40-4900, may be referred to as "Richland 4900", Richland 4900 Plaintiffs other claimed members of James Brown's family will be referred to by their first names to avoid confusion. The full names of all except grandson Forlando are set out in the R4900 complaint, which may be abbreviated "Comp." [R. 215] R4900 Defendants Robert Buchanan, Jr. and Adele Pope may be reference as "B&P". References to the record may shorten Plaintiffs to "P1" and Defendant or Defendants to "D," and terms such as motion (Mot) and others may be similarly shortened. R4900 Plaintiff James Brown Legacy Trust is referenced herein as "Legacy Trust;" The Motion to Alter, etc. Ord. Dropping AG as a Party filed 7/19/17 is "Mot. 7/19/17;" Return to Motion to Strike of 11/20/18 is "Mot. 11/20/18;" and Supplemental Motion filed 10/30/18 is "Mot. 10/20/18."

a large part of James Brown's assets in exchange for the AG's effective control over the James Brown assets. *Wilson* at 421, 743 S.E.2d at 752; Pl. [R. 1416; 1409; 1410; 1703; 1709-10; 363-4]

Appellant Pope and Buchanan sought to protect the integrity of James Brown's estate plan by challenging the legitimacy of the settlement. [R. 1709-10; 363; 366; 1378; 1388; 1389] In 2010 Respondents threatened to sue Buchanan and Pope unless they dropped their appeal of the trial court's approval of the settlement. [R. 958] The appeal was not dropped, and this case was filed on May 19, 2010, with Sweeney, Wingate & Barrow, P.A. (SWB), as sole counsel for all Respondents. [R. 215]

Buchanan and Pope went forward with the appeal and the Supreme Court held that the AG lacked authority to intervene, settle the litigation, and take effective control of Brown's assets. *Wilson* at 447, 743 S.E.2d at 766; R. 741-2. Even though Buchanan and Pope's challenge to the AG's settlement was successful, Richland 4900 continues 6 years later. No trial has been held, and SWB continues to act for all Respondents.

This is an appeal of the circuit court's order declining to dismiss the Richland 4900 complaint [R. 91]; order granting summary judgment to all Respondents as to all counterclaims [R. 188; 204]; and certain other orders.<sup>2</sup> It is one of several pre-trial appeals from Richland 4900 pending at the time this brief was filed.

On May 19, 2010 the Richland 4900 complaint was filed in the Probate Court for Richland

---

<sup>2</sup> Ords, Early, 1/23/17, pp. 1-16; 1/23/17 (Larry), pp. 1-2 [R., 170-1]; 1/24/17, pp. 1-2; 2/6/17, pp. 1-2 [R., pp. 172-3]; 3/7/17, pp. 1-2; [R., pp. 174-5]; 3/9/17, pp. 1-2 (Tommie Rae) [R., pp. 178-9]; 3/9/17 (Seal), pp. 1-2; [R., pp. 176-7]; 6/6/17, pp. 1-2 [R., pp. 186-7]; 12/6/17, pp. 1-5 [R., pp. 206-10]; 4/8/16, [R., pp. 151]; 7/25/16, pp. 1-2 [R., pp. 161-2]; 7/26/16, pp. 1-2 [R., pp. 163-4]; 9/13/16, pp. 1-2; 9/21/16; pp. 1-3 [R., pp. 167-9]; 11/22/16, p. 1; 12/27/16, pp. 1-2; Ords, Mann, 11/8/10 (Venue), pp. 1-6 [R., pp. 99-104]; 1/7/11, pp. 1-2 [R., pp. 105-6]; 10/5/12, pp. 1-3 [R., pp. 130-2]; 7/13/12, pp. 1-2 [R., pp. 125-6]; 7/5/12, pp. 1, 3 [no page 2] [R., pp. 121-2]; 10/13/15, pp. 1-2 [R., pp. 143-5]; 3/2/16, pp. 1-2 [R., pp. 147-8].

County by SWB for all Plaintiffs. [R. 215-228] The case was removed to the Richland County Circuit Court; declared complex; and assigned to Judge Manning. [R. 89] Judge Manning presided over the case until March 24, 2016, when it was assigned to Judge Early. [R. 150]

Plaintiffs are the Legacy Trust, and its “Beneficiary Plaintiffs,” 15 individuals and the AG. [R. 217] Russell L. Bauknight (Bauknight) is a party as Trustee of the Legacy Trust and in other capacities. [R. 215] The Legacy Trust, also known as the “Settlement Entity,” is a collective investment vehicle created on August 10, 2008 and funded by 2009 with the termination rights proceeds of the Beneficiary Plaintiffs under Sections 304 and 203 of the U.S. Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §§ 101 *et seq.*, and other assets. [R. 1409; 1410]

The Legacy Trust “[r]eceives all assets, royalties, tangible and intangible property,” and distributes income and assets according to its ownership interests. [Pl. Memo Opp. (Venue), 8/27/10, pp. 2, Exhibit A, p. 41][R., p. 1409] Plaintiff Legacy Trust is 75% controlled by the AG and Tommie Rae, but the AG has the right to remove and replace its trustee, Bauknight, at will. [Memo, Venue, 8/27/10, p. 2][R., p. 1409] Mot., 10/30/18, p. 6 [R. p. 1001]

When the Richland 4900 complaint was filed, the AG’s (New) Charity held a 47.5% share of Plaintiff Legacy Trust, and Tommie Rae a 23.75% share. [R. 1409] Each of six Plaintiffs, acknowledged as children by James Brown in his last will, held a 4.79% share. [*Id.*]

The AG’s (New) Charity was created as part of an August 2008 settlement brokered by the AG. The 2008 settlement rewrote the estate plan of James Brown. *Wilson* at 447, 743 S.E.2d at 766; R. 1409.

The Legacy Trust was amended in January 2009 to add Plaintiff Terry Brown (Terry) and give him a right of first refusal to purchase Brown’s music empire (ROFR). [R. 652] It was amended again in December 2010 to allow Terry to begin acting under the ROFR. [R. 652-7]

The August 2008 settlement called for the replacement of Buchanan and Pope. [R. 1409] They were replaced as PR/Trustees by Bauknight as part of the Aiken Court's May 26, 2009 order approving the 2008 settlement. The Aiken Court did not hear or rule on the AG's request to remove all five prior PR/Trustees under Brown's estate plan. [R. 1407-9] Buchanan and Pope appealed the settlement. [R. 224]

In October 2009 the stay pending the appeal was lifted, and both Plaintiff Legacy Trust and Brown's 2000 Trust were in active operation in Richland County. [R. 1432]

In January 2011 Terry transferred his 4.79% share of the Legacy Trust to his son, Forlando [R. 1467] [Bauk, Depos., 8/20/13, pp. 37-38; Ret. 10/29/18, p. 1; Mot., 10/30/18, pp. 1, 9] [R. pp. 996, 1004] When Brown's daughter Venisha died in September 2018, her estate became the owner of her 4.79% Legacy Trust share. Mot. 10/30/18, pp 2, 16, 17 [R., pp. 997, 1011, 1012] Motions to correct the parties as to these and other changes were not heard. [R. 650-1]

In the complaint Plaintiffs allege that Buchanan and Pope breached their fiduciary duty to the Beneficiary Plaintiffs by opposing and appealing the AG's settlement, and in other ways. [R. 216-227] Plaintiffs allege Buchanan and Pope should have accepted a 2007 offer to purchase Brown's music empire for \$100 million; mishandled a July 2008 auction; failed to understand the basic operation of federal copyright law; and artificially inflated the reported value of Brown's estate "for the purpose of justifying a claim for approximately \$5 Million in fees." [R. 220-4]

On June 22, 2010, Buchanan and Appellant moved to dismiss the complaint on the following grounds:

1. Plaintiffs failed<sup>l</sup> to comply with S.C. Code § 15-36-10 when claiming alleged negligence of attorneys. [R. 233]
2. Another action was pending between the parties. [R. 233]
3. The alleged wrongful acts had been approved by the Aiken Court in unappealed orders. [R. 235-6]

4. The allegations in the complaint far exceeded the AG's statutory and constitutional authority to act, violating Due Process rights of Defendants. [R. 236-8]
5. Private Counsel SWB exceeded its statutory and constitutional authority. [R. 238]
6. Plaintiffs failed to join indispensable parties and appoint guardians *ad litem* (GALs). [R. 238]
7. Claims asserted against them were barred by the 1-year statute of limitation. [R. 238-9; 1245]
8. Plaintiffs lacked standing to sue under James Brown's will and 2000 Trust, either because they were non-beneficiaries or had violated the *In Terrorem* clauses, or both. [R. 239-40]
9. Richland 4900 was filed to benefit the Legacy Trust and its beneficiaries, and Buchanan and Pope never served the Legacy Trust or owed its beneficiaries any duty. [R. 230]
10. South Carolina Code Ann. § 33-56-180 bars recovery because Buchanan and Pope were acting within the scope of their authority as agents for The James Brown "I Feel Good" Trust, a 501(c)(3) private foundation. [R. 230]

The motion to dismiss was supported by memoranda; affidavits of Buchanan and Appellant; orders of the Aiken Court and other orders and documents. [R. 242] The unappealed Aiken County orders addressed Buchanan's and Pope's service between March 2007 and May 26, 2009 as both special administrators of Brown's estate (SAs) and PR/Trustees. [R. 3-80; 231-241]

On May 8, 2013 the Supreme Court voided the AG's settlement in its final decision in *Wilson, supra*. The decision also voided Bauknight's appointments as Brown's PR/Trustee under Brown's will and 2000 Trust but did not directly address either Bauknight's role as trustee of Plaintiff Legacy Trust or as trustee of the AG's (New) Charity.

On August 2, 2010, subject to the motion to dismiss, Buchanan and Appellant moved to transfer venue to Aiken County. [R. 273-275] Plaintiffs opposed the motion. [R. 1407; 1431]

On August 27, 2010, Buchanan and Appellant supplemented their motion to dismiss based on a representation by Plaintiffs in the *Wilson* appeal that an appraisal expected shortly would show Brown's estate and 2000 Trust were worth less than \$12 million when he died on December 25,

2006. [R. 1433] The Richland Court was also asked to take judicial notice of the public record of numerous pending James Brown matters. [R. 1628]

On August 30, 2010 a hearing was held. [R. 1041; 1628]

On September 30, 2010, subject to the motion to dismiss, Buchanan and Pope served their answer and counterclaim, denying any liability as to any Plaintiff. [R. 362] They also counterclaimed against all Plaintiffs for abuse of process [R. 388]; civil conspiracy [R. 389-91]; intentional interference with their payment contract with Plaintiff Estate/2000 Trust [R. 391-2]; and Plaintiffs' violations of SCPC § 62-1-106 (2013) [R. 392-3]. Buchanan and Appellant demanded a jury trial and sought attorneys' fees and costs. [R. 393]

On October 1, 2010, Plaintiffs filed an affidavit of Beth Bauknight, custodian of the James Brown estate records. The affidavit attached Buchanan's and Pope's interim and final accountings, and a custody receipt which stated that they had brought in \$7.83 million and on May 27, 2009 they had (reserving all rights) delivered assets valued at more than \$99 million to Bauknight. [R. 1733; 1333-1341]

By orders dated November 8, 2010, and January 7, 2011 the Court denied the motions to dismiss and for change of venue. [R. 91; 99; 105]

On November 16, 2010 Plaintiffs filed a motion to set aside entry of default as to the counterclaims and attached a proposed answer to the counterclaims. [R. 397] Buchanan and Appellant opposed the motion. [R. 694-8 ]

In 2011 the Honorable Alan Wilson replaced the Honorable Henry McMaster, now Governor of South Carolina, as AG, and the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed as not immediately appealable Buchanan's and Pope's request for early appellate review of the order denying their motion to dismiss. [R. 107; 869]

On May 18, 2011, Buchanan and Appellant moved to disqualify SWB and enjoin Bauknight from acting for the AG. [R. 412; 1477-88; 1676-85]

In the fall of 2011 the AG sought to have two Freedom of Information Act<sup>3</sup> (FOIA) cases transferred from Newberry County to Richland County and consolidated with Richland 4900. [R. 714-5]; The Richland 4900 Plaintiffs moved to intervene in one of the FOIA suits to support the AG's position and sought sanctions against Pope. [R. 1516 ]

Both FOIA cases were moved to Richland County, and the case seeking the AG's contract with SWB was consolidated with Richland 4900. [R. 114]. The consolidation motion described Richland 4900 as "arising out of [Pope's] fiduciary responsibilities in relation to the James Brown Legacy Trust." [R. 114]

On November 1, 2011 the Supreme Court heard oral arguments in the *Wilson v. Dallas* appeal. [R. 544-5; 553; 554; 556]

In 2012 Plaintiffs moved to prevent various depositions and produced only a witness list in response to document discovery. [R. 1454; 444-456] Plaintiffs also filed 100 media articles as part of a motion related to pretrial publicity. [R. 544-622].

In May 2012 Plaintiffs moved to compel a settlement with Buchanan. [R. 1686] Pope supported the \$500,000 payment to Buchanan sought to void other provisions as violating the AG's public duty. [R. 486-492] The motion was not heard, but several months later the Court issued an order referencing the settlement and holding that the parties would pay their own fees and costs. [R. 125-6]

In 2012 Pope submitted offers of judgment to most Plaintiffs which SWB moved to strike.

---

<sup>3</sup> *Pope vs. Wilson and James Brown Legacy Trust*, formerly case no. 2011-CP-38-0364, and *Pope vs. Wilson*, formerly case no. 2011-CP-38-0379.

[R. 499-543]. Thereafter Pope moved for summary judgment and related relief as to most Plaintiffs. [R. 634; 641; 646; 663] The motions have not been heard.

In July 2012 the Circuit Court declined to disqualify SWB or enjoin Bauknight from speaking for the AG, and Appellant later appealed. [R. 123]

On July 19, 2012 the Circuit Court directed the parties to conduct a pre-discovery mediation and held motions in abeyance pending its outcome. [R. 127-9; 1518-9]

In October 2012 the Circuit Court exempted individual Plaintiffs from attending the mediation and declined Pope's request to appoint GALs for minors and Venisha, who was incarcerated. [R. 130] No settlement was reached. [R. 1662-1663]

On February 27, 2013 the Supreme Court issued its first decision in *Wilson v. Dallas*. The Supreme Court admonished the AG to conclude Richland 4900 and the FOIA suits "in the first instance." *Wilson, supra*.

On March 6, 2013 Appellant met with Plaintiff AG Wilson, Solicitor General Robert Cook and then-Chief Deputy AG John McIntosh. Appellant and counsel had a second meeting with AG Cook and AG McIntosh a few days later. [R. 882; 923; 973-4]

On March 27, 2013, the AG and other Plaintiffs asked the Richland Circuit Court not to conduct any hearings in Richland 4900 or in the two FOIA cases. [R. 1738-9].

On May 8, 2013, the final decision in *Wilson* was substituted for the first decision. The Supreme Court voided the AG's 2008 settlement; voided Bauknight's appointments under Brown's will and 2000 Trust; and noted in footnote 30 the AG's assurances that he was taking action to withdraw from Richland 4900. Buchanan and Appellant were not reinstated, and Aiken 1647 was remanded for action by the Aiken Court. *Wilson* at 449, 743 S.E.2d 767.

On May 10, 2013, Bauknight was appointed special administrator and special trustee

(SA/ST) by the Aiken Court. In Richland 4900, Plaintiffs, through SWB, asked the Court to stay Richland 4900 and both FOIA cases. Respondents asserted:

The Supreme Court, in substituting the new opinion has completely eliminated footnote 29 from the prior opinion. Footnote 29, while only dicta in the now replaced opinion, addressed, among other items, the FOIA matters and called for them to be heard “in the first instance” without any clear definition of what that meant. Such language is totally absent from the new order. . . the court no longer puts any primacy or priority on any court hearing these matters.

...  
...Therefore, Case 4900 Plaintiffs and Proposed FOIA Intervenors respectfully request that [Richland 4900/FOIA Suits] be held in abeyance in its entirety until all underlying issues related to the Plaintiffs are resolved by the Aiken Court.  
[R. 1585]

On May 29, 2013 the Aiken Circuit Court held a status conference. Counsel for Plaintiffs Tommie Rae and eleven Richland 4900 Plaintiffs advised the Aiken Court of their intention to disregard *Wilson* and reinstate the AG’s 2008 settlement. [R. 1739; 885-6] With Bauknight, they asked the Aiken Court to exclude Buchanan and Pope from James Brown cases. The AG expressed pleasure that Bauknight had been appointed. [R 886]

On June 10, 2013, Appellant filed Aiken County Case 2013-CP-02-1337 (Aiken 1337). [R. 1691]

On June 13, 2013 the Aiken Court issued administrative orders excluding Buchanan and Appellant from James Brown (Aiken County) cases except their own claim cases. The Aiken Court directed the Aiken Clerk of Court to return any attempted filing by Buchanan or Pope not in their own claim cases. [R. 866]

In October 2013 Bauknight, nominated by several Plaintiffs, was appointed PR/Trustee under the Will and 2000 Trust. David Sojourner, Esq., proposed by Bauknight, was appointed as SA/ST. [R. 1020-23]

In October 2013, the Aiken Court, held a *Wilson* remand hearing for Buchanan. The Court,

without objection of Bauknight, orally approved Buchanan's service, all of which was joint with Appellant; ruled that no disgorgement was appropriate under *Wilson*; and left open the possibility of Buchanan's re-entry into Richland 4900. [R. 938-9].

In April 2014 Richland 4900 Plaintiffs reduced their 2013 stay request to a written motion to stay. [R. 659-60]. Appellant opposed the stay. [R. 661]

In late 2014, the Aiken Court and Richland Circuit Court conferred *sua sponte* and ordered a joint mediation in Richland 4900 and Aiken 1337. [R. 133-5]

In January 2015, the Aiken Court declared Plaintiff Tommie Rae to be Brown's spouse. [R. 1009] Several Richland 4900 Plaintiffs appealed the order. [*Id.*]

In March 2015 the Aiken Circuit Court orally denied Appellant's request, to require the successors in interest to Plaintiff Legacy Trust, which claimed it did not exist, to appear at the court-ordered joint mediation. [R. 924-8]

On May 8, 2015 the Aiken Court delivered a status report to the Supreme Court at the request of the Court. [R. 1009] Buchanan and Appellant were not asked to respond and did not. [R. 1009, n. 4]

In 2015 the Aiken Court ruled that James B. is a child of Brown. [R. 1009, n. 4] Thereafter the Aiken Court awarded James B's Aiken GAL and attorney \$700,000.00 in fees. [R. 858]

By order dated October 13, 2015, the Circuit Court granted Plaintiffs' motion to set aside Plaintiffs' default and held that the AG was never in default. [R. 143-5]

On October 13, 2015 the Circuit Court again exempted individual Plaintiffs from the October 22 mediation and declined to appoint GALs. [R. 141-2] No settlement was reached.

In 2016 Tommie Rae and James B. moved to London, U.K. [R. 1028-31]

By order dated March 2, 2016 the Circuit Court stayed Richland 4900. [R. 147] Appellant

moved for reconsideration.

By order dated April 8, 2016, the stay was lifted and the new Circuit Court judge thereafter ruled that “discovery in this case shall begin anew.” [R. 150; 151]

In 2016 and 2017 the Circuit Court issued various protective orders to Tommie Rae, the AG and others, including Venisha, who could not be located. [R. 178; 170; 167]

The Circuit Court conducted hearings on May 17, 2016 and August 29, 2016. [R. 1607; 1089]

On June 14, 2016 the Circuit Court dismissed both 2011 FOIA cases, and appeals were taken. [R. 152; 155; *Pope v. Wilson*, 6/19/19.]

On July 25, 2016 the Circuit Court’s Scheduling Order *sua sponte* stated that “a date-certain trial will be set for [this case] either prior to or jointly with Case 1337.” [R. 161-2]

In October 2016 Respondents moved to consolidate Aiken 1337 and Richland 4900 expert discovery. Appellant opposed the consolidation. [R. 159-60]

By order dated March 9, 2017 the Circuit Court, without considering the contents, directed that an affidavit of Pope be placed under seal and that “[a]ll further Affidavits filed by [Pope] will be filed under seal.” [R. 176-7] The Court stated, in part:

(3) A determination will be made at the time of trial which Affidavits will be used in the trial of this matter. This Order specifically makes no finding about the content of the January 17, 2017 Affidavit. . . .

By order dated May 31, 2017 the Circuit Court dropped the AG as a party to Richland 4900 under Rule 21 SCRPC. [R. 180]

By order dated June 23, 2017 the Circuit Court granted summary judgment to the AG and all Respondents as to all of Buchanan’s and Pope’s counterclaims, and on July 14, 2017 Appellant moved for reconsideration of the order [R. 188-203; 914-940]

On September 12, 2017, Appellant appealed the order granting the AG's motion to be dropped; the order preventing the AG's deposition; and other orders. *See* Appellate Case No. 2017-001899, pending in this Court.

On December 6, 2017, the Circuit Court denied Appellant's motion to lift the stay imposed by the appeal, stating: "The Orders on appeal here are wide-ranging, [a]ffecting both the inclusion-exclusion of parties to the suit and to the right of the attorneys to represent those parties." [Order filed 12/6/17, p. 2][R. p. 207]

In January 2018 Venisha, Tonya Brown (Tonya), Deanna and others sued Tommie Rae, James B, Bauknight and others over termination rights. [R. 1016].

In 2018 Bauknight told a Federal Court that tens of millions of dollars had been spent in litigation costs from Brown's Charity since 2007. [R. 1037]

On September 19, 2018 Plaintiff Venisha died. [R. 1011]

In October 10, 2018 John Donsbach, Esq., moved to be relieved as counsel for Terry. [R. 1718] Appellant opposed the motion. [R.1720]

On October 30, 2018, Appellant moved to lift the stay for limited purposes. [R. 996]

In November 2018 Bauknight's counsel in another case asked the Circuit Court to rule on the motion to alter the summary judgment order. [R. 214] Appellant opposed the ruling until the stay was lifted and other action taken. [R. 1748].

By order dated November 26, 2018, the Circuit Court, without lifting the stay, denied reconsideration of the partial summary judgment order. [R. 211]

This appeal was filed on December 17, 2018.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS<sup>4</sup>

In 2000 entertainer James Brown finalized his estate plan, leaving most of his assets to educate needy students. *Wilson* at 417, 743 S.E.2d at 750. By the time Brown died on Christmas Day 2006 trust David Cannon had taken \$17 million from Brown. [R. 1721]

Twelve years after Brown's death, not a dime had gone to educate needy students, and tens of millions of dollars to be paid by Brown's charity had been spent on litigation costs. [R. 1734]. Years have been spent on a plan to put and keep the AG and Tommie Rae in control of Brown's music empire, and to distribute nearly three-quarters of Brown's music empire and its \$4 million annual income to the AG's (New) Charity and Tommie Rae. [R. 269-272]

For the AG's plan to succeed, Buchanan and Pope had to be discredited. [1729] For nine years, Richland 4900 has been used for that purpose. [R. 1002; 1006; 1012] A brief summary of its background and history follows.

### **Before the Attorney General's Entry into the James Brown Cases**

Between 1999 and 2007 Cannon and Albert Dallas helped Brown bring in about \$84 million, and Cannon took about \$17 million of what came in. [R. 1721] But Cannon and co-trustee Dallas wanted more. [R. 27-44]

Under a 2006 deal known as the "October 18 Letter," Cannon, Dallas and Brown's music manager Frank Copsidas were seeking a quick sale of Brown's music empire for about \$100 million.[R. 26] The sale would cover up Cannon's takings and reap about \$15 million for Copsidas; \$5 million for Cannon; \$5 million for Dallas; and \$5 million for Greenberg Traurig (GT), the law firm of Brown's entertainment attorney, Joel Katz, Esq. [R. 1678-9]

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellant incorporates the Statement of the Case in her Statement of the Facts.

In July 2007, as Cannon's takings were about to be uncovered, Dallas and Cannon, through Atlanta lawyers at Powell Goldstein (PG), tried to move the situs of Brown's 2000 Trust to Georgia. [R. 1235; 21-70] That failed, and Cannon resigned. [R. 21-23]

In August 2007, Cannon wired \$900,000 to Roatan Island in the Caribbean for his turnkey retirement home. Then he and Dallas went to the AGs of Georgia and South Carolina for help. [Ord. 4/8/08, p. 28-30] They got it.

Cannon and Dallas told the AGs that the Aiken Court was favoring Buchanan and Pope against Cannon. They said Buchanan and Appellant were greedy and incompetent and had ousted the innocent Cannon to get the \$5 million commission payable on Brown's \$100 million estate. [R. 941-2]

The AGs entered the James Brown proceedings. [R. 50]

#### **The Attorney General's Alliance with Cannon, Dallas and Tommie Rae**

On October 4, 2007 the AG made his official entry in Case 2007-CP-02-0122 (Aiken 122). [R. 50] For a decade Senior Assistant AG Havird "Sonny" Jones, with virtually no oversight from two AGs, would form and carry out the State/AG's policy towards Brown's "I Feel Good" Charity. [See, e.g., R. 1067-8]

The day after they were appointed PR/Trustees on November 20, 2007, AG Jones asked Buchanan and Appellant to resign. [R. 1251] He accused them of unethical conduct. [*Id.*] The open attacks would continue for years. [R. 1294-1302]

Buchanan and Appellant asked the Circuit Court to review their appointment and service. If it was deficient, they wanted to resign. On April 8, 2008, after a full hearing, the Aiken Court found their appointment correct and their service ethical and appropriate. [R. 21-70] Other Aiken

Court orders reviewed and approved virtually all of their actions. [R. 3; 7; 15; 21; 71; 74] They were not appealed.

In May 2008 philanthropist John Rainey, Buchanan and Pope met with then-AG McMaster to address AG Jones' interference. The meeting went well. On July 30, 2008 AG McMaster approved Buchanan and Pope as permanent trustees of the "I Feel Good" Charity. But AG Jones had a different idea. [R. 1308-9; 1311-4; 1315]

### **The Contract with the Acknowledged Family and Tommie Rae**

In August 2008 Brown's six acknowledged children, grandson Forlando and Tommie Rae all knew that the creation of a trust to educate needy students was Brown's often-stated and well-known desire. [R. 1416] They knew Brown left only personal and household effects (less estate taxes) to the six and left everything else to Brown's 2000 Trust. *Wilson* at 439.

They knew that, under a "Fractional Share" formula in the 2000 Trust tied to Brown's estate tax proceeding, a small fraction of the 2000 Trust's assets and income (1/42) was now ready to be used to educate Forlando and other grandchildren to age thirty-five. [R. 74-80] The rest of the 2000 Trust (about 41/42) would soon start providing more than \$3 million a year in scholarships for needy students in South Carolina and Georgia. [R. 1726 ]

Brown's acknowledged family also knew that they could enjoy U.S. royalties to some of Brown's 900 copyrights, and even his unpublished works. Over decades, beginning as early as 2012, Brown's children could exercise termination rights and claw back from publishers some of the benefits from Brown's U.S. royalties for their lifetimes. When they died, their termination rights would go to their children. [R. 1477-88]

They knew they would have to share termination rights with Tommie Rae if she were Brown's spouse, but there was strong evidence that she was not. [Aff. Pope 8/21/12, pp. 1-5]

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