THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jun 23 2020

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2010CP4004900

Appellate Case No.2018-002229

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Appellant fails to support her factual allegations with documents properly before the circuit court.

ARGUMENT

The Attorney General adds the following:

As his Initial Brief and subject to the Order dropping him as a party to this case, pursuant to Rule 208(b)(6), SCACR, the Attorney General joins in and incorporates by reference the Amended Initial Brief of Respondents prepared by Sweeny, Wingate and Barrow, P. A. Before the circuit court granted summary judgment for the Plaintiffs as to Appellant's counterclaim (R. V. I, p. 188 - Order dated June 23, 2017, and filed July 8, 2017), the Court dropped the Attorney General as a party to this case (R. V. I, p. 180 (Order dated May 31, 2017, and filed June 12, 2017)). The Order dropping him is a subject of Appeal 2017-1899, and is included in the Record in that case. The Attorney General preserves and does not waive any arguments that he has regarding his being dropped as a party to this case.

I

APPELLANT FAILS TO SUPPORT HER PURPORTED FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS WITH DOCUMENTS THAT WERE PROPERLY BEFORE THE CIRCUIT COURT OR THAT CONTAINED ADMISSIBLE FACTUAL SUPPORT

The Attorney General does wish to note that Appellant's Amended Brief includes numerous purportedly factual statements and allegations that cite documents containing undocumented arguments of counsel which were filed for purposes other than the orders under appeal. These citations are inconsistent with case law and the purposes of the Appellate court rules. Appellant also references documents that apparently were never filed in circuit court. The following citations are examples but they are not intended to include all errors that may be present in the brief.

Appellant most frequently cites her Supplemental Motion for Order for Limited Lifting of Stay, October 30, 2018 (Motion to Lift Stay- R. V. III, p. 996). This document contains the caption of Appeal 2017-001899, but was filed in the circuit court case. The Motion contains Appellant's attorney's characterization of the history of numerous events over the years in various cases involving James Brown will and trust matters but without reference to documents filed in court. Appellant cites this document over 50 times in her brief including as the sole citation for at least 18 statements. Appellant's Amended Brief at pp. 4, 11(three times), 12 (twice), 22 n. 6, 23 (twice), 24, n. 8, 26(three times), 28, 34, 38, 42, n. 16, and 46. She filed that Motion after the circuit court had decided the orders under appeal with the exception of her Motion to Alter or Amend the Order granting Plaintiffs' Counterclaim (R. V. II, p. 860) which the court denied on November 26, 2018 (R. V. I, p. 210). Appellant's Motion to Lift Stay was not filed for the purpose of the Motion to Alter or Amend and would not have been appropriate for that purpose as

a new unrelated motion. *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456–57, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990)(“A party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not.”) Moreover, the undocumented statements of counsel in the Motion to Lift Stay are not evidence and should not be considered. “Every trial judge knows, as every trial lawyer knows, and every appellate court judge should know, that the statements of counsel in an argument are not evidence but are merely the expression of his individual view” *Harper v. Bolton*, 239 S.C. 541, 562, 124 S.E.2d 54, 64 (1962). The Court’s denial of that Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend does not indicate that the Judge relied on the Motion to Lift Stay. Therefore, the Motion to Lift Stay and any statements in Appellant’s brief that rely on it should not be considered on appeal.

Contrary to the above authority, Appellant relies on other documents filed after the Orders under appeal in this case were issued but before her Motion to Alter or Amend was decided and which set forth arguments or statements of counsel which are not evidence. *Hickman* and *Harper, supra*. Her Return opposing Motion of Donsbach to withdraw as counsel of October 29, 2018 (. V. IV, p. 1720), contains 27 pages of arguments of counsel, which are not evidence, which she cites on pages 4, 9, 10, 11, 14 (twice), 15 (twice), 22, 24 (twice), and 27 of her brief. Among other affidavits, she relies on her own affidavits that she filed after the Orders under appeal were decided. *See, eg.* pp. 3, 15, 16 19 (Affidavit in support of motion to lift stay in appeal 2017-1899). She references her Motion to Alter or Amend Order Dropping the Attorney General (R. V. II, p. 860 - July 19, 2017, pp. 19, 28 (three times)). That Motion contains 52 pages of undocumented statements of counsel with a few quotations from a McMaster deposition and other depositions that do not appear to have been filed with the Richland County Court of Common

Pleas with the “Notice of Filing of Original Deposition Transcripts” on October 19, 2017, or otherwise. These documents referenced by Appellant should not be considered nor should her statements in her brief that rely on them.

In addition to these problems, according to online records for the Richland County Court of Common Pleas¹, several documents cited in the brief do not appear to have been filed with the circuit court at any time. These unfiled documents included the depositions cited in Appellant’s brief. Her affidavit in support of Motion to Lift Stay dated November 8, 2017 does not appear to have been filed in circuit court, but she cites it at pages 16 and 19 (twice). She cites letters, but she does not show that they were ever filed with the court or sent to the presiding judge. *See, eg.*, Brief at pp. 5, 15, 16, 17, 19, 22, 25.² Any unfiled documents that are cited in the brief should not be referenced. Rules 208(b)(4), 209(b), 210(c), SCACR; Order, Court of Appeals, July 26, 2019.

This brief does not attempt to catalogue all the problems with Appellant’s brief, but what the above references show is that Appellant is unable to provide reliable factual support for her allegations. Undocumented arguments of her attorneys are insufficient. Documents filed after the main orders were decided were not properly before the circuit court. Of course, documents that were never filed cannot be considered. This Court should disregard Appellant’s Statement of the Case and Statement of Facts and any of her arguments that rely on references to the above documents that are not properly before this Court.

1 The Court of Appeals should be able to take judicial notice of the online records. *See, Sloan v. Greenville Cty.*, 380 S.C. 528, 537, 670 S.E.2d 663, 668 (Ct. App. 2009)(“we take judicial notice of our own docket”); Rule 201, S.C. Rules of Evidence.

2 She references a letter to Judge Manning dated May 10, 2013, which was directed to him.

CONCLUSION

As set forth above, the Attorney General concurs in the Brief of Respondents and respectfully requests that the Court affirm the Orders on appeal.